## FILED

08/22/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0033

## Sharon McCrea's Appellant Brief DA 230033

## FILED

AUG 1 8 2023

Bowen Greenwood Clerk of Supreme Court State of Montana

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

SHARON MCCREA,

v.

Plaintiff & Appellant,

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

DA 23-0033

CONNIE SUE LARSON, ESTATE OFMARTINNE E. CHEW, CHICADO TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, LOANCARE ACCOUNT SERVICIND, and Any Other Party, i.e. John Doe,

Defendants and Appellees.

Whereby Sharon AcCrea, Plaintiff and Appellant, will as best as this typewriter will permit, then resorting to handwriting, addresses the Montana Superme Court in regard to Appeal number DA 23-0033.

Due to the time restraints thrown at McCrea with continued harassment, right up through Monday, July 31, 2023, and McCrea needing to get to her very low level job where pre-release persons surround the already wage choking environment, I will highlight as best as possible what the Montana Supreme Court needs to know.

Thank you for hearing my petition. I do appreciate this consideration.

Because you are familiar with the record as presented to you by a distorted document file and by a Summary Judgment by Judge Kutzman, based on false records and an altered case to the point of criminality, I will not go into elaborate detail as to the findings of the case other than to state that the records upon which Judge Kutsman relied were inaccurate, filings removed from the record, substitute filings, particularly the Complain by McCrea are altered and not the original recorda, as well as other to be revealed aspects of the case.

When McCrea embarked on this first rejected Injunction by the Eighth Judicial Distri-Court Clerks, she was due at a Physician's appointment for pre-thyroid appointment soon to be pending surgurey. September 3, 2023, McCrea was to be three hours away at her appointment, which the Court Clerks knew of a few days earlier, where they insisted that for McCrea to file her already prepared Injunction, brought to the Court, that she must have a complaint attached.

McCrea labored over present day Court writings and communications where, whe wondere if legal ease had subsided to plain straight forward English, and also, do I address or refer to myself as "I" as a pro se litigant, or do I refer to myself in the third person or as I observed in reading the Judges responses much later do I refer to myself by my last name of : "McCrea?" My writings were clear and plain and suscinct, but I moved back and forth referring to myself using "I" and "plaintiff," and eventually McCrea. Not until I became at ease with the case and well into numerous filed documents beyond answers and replies, did I begin launching full on into what was at hand. So the opening that I phoned the opposing counsel to talk with him about the sale of the lot and also that I was saddled with abject worry regarding my diagnosis regarding the thyroid cancer, and missing my appointment, not to again mention, how should my writing commense in addressing the Court, this is not my initial complaint.

Additionally, one of the documents I submitted with the complaint was removed and replaced by a document that would be useless. Additionally, the ACLU item was submitted ACLU received letter, was submitted much later in my submissions, after 2021.

The Court record not only does not have my responses to each of the Defendant's Answers and responses which were all filed before the end of 2020, this includes both Chicago Title Insurance Company's answer and Levine's answer for each of the respective defendants, but recreated and showed submitted in October of 2020 a Jotion for a More Definitive Statement, which was actually submitted in 2022, late.

Chicago Title and LoanCares ridiculous answer, which I shot down their shoddy legal determination as to what was happening with me as Plaintiff, determining through their submitted research that I was sitting on piles of money and not making payments, where it demonstrated and I pointed out that it demonstrated their abject control of my cell phone and communications.

So I rose to the occasion, shot down all the theories and contrived facts that were submitted in these answers and responses, and ALL OF THOSE DOCIMENTS WERE ELIMINATED AND REMOVED FROM THE RECORD.

Furthermore, I noticed in perusing the record at the Montana Supreme Court, that items you received, I did not receive from Bill Levine, namely the letter from Emily created to appear that Chicago Title had informed anyone of their transfer of a non-loan within their care that appears they are doing something they did in fact not do.

That letter in yourposession, if I remember correctly, dated July of 2018, in fact was created after-the-fact for this litigation. The letter was never prepared and sent until after the litigation, and never sent at all to The letter did not exist prior to this litigation, including Bill Levines's contrived amoratization schedule with missed payments and irregular determinations as to what I paid.

Contrast this with the fact that Lévine for Larson and the Chew Estate also included or had substituted with the Court additional documents including this Emily letter and the supposed "no judge's signature" warrant, none of which were provided me in his answer.

So many substitutions and items pulled from the record and additions for Larson, Estate of Chew, Chicago Title, LoanCare and their attending attorneys creates a very different story.

The Court needs to know that I was unable for months on end to access any messearch (2) McCrea Appeal Court Brief

DA 23-0033

or case law, particularly due to another redirecting my search materials and commandeering my phone, where I spent time attempting to thwart these intrusions, where as I collected my own photographs and evidence, the persons locked me out of five phones, two, they damaged the screen as I observed looking at it with it turning black and lines running through it until it turned black. There were also many times I went without a phone once damaged.

Libraries, and the only legal materialed law library being the versity of Providence, did not permit public members in until very late 2021, where it was tenuous inquiring to use the library in 2022, and people were still wearing masks. Public libraries permitted one hour only during the pandemic, and I utilize the Great Falls Public Library as little as possible since receiving back a late left behind flashdrive a day later, back in 2010 with all my work materials and resume removed and replaced with photos of what appeared to represent clothed porn.

Because of my diligence, ability to catch a lie and discrepancy, my ability to protect myself and rise to the occasion, these agents of opposing counsel absolutley pounded on me day-and-night physically via the body devices, physically damaging my property, vehicles and rifling through my litigation documents and personal documents as much as needed to recreate a completely remiss appearance on my part when in actuality despite all the setbacks thrown at me, I was an inherent threat to their position, as I rose to the occasion.

I need to point out that I did not understand that the amended complaint came on randomly submitting an amended complaint. I thought I must ask permission for this amendment, which was never granted.

I did not elaborate at the Pre-Trial Conference that I was surprised to have been asked at closing to sign a trust indenture instead of a contract for deed. There were no discussions of lenghth in any manner about the case except that the men (Chris Sweeney and Bill Levine were arrogantly swinging off the lampshades of their comradery with Judge Kutzman. Chris Sweeney made up his understanding of facts with wrong dates without any documentation in front of him, admitting so and then I corrected his comradery presentation of facts that were totally inaccurate.

What I intended to show at trial upon a document appearing/surfacing where the last summary judgment was granted and trial cancelled, is that on Thursday, November 12, 2009, I received at my home a Wall Street Journal with the name and address of an individual completely noncongruant with my address. I took the Wall Street Journal to the named party and address only to be told no one ever lived there by that name. I had been praying whether to sign the papers or not on Friday, November 13, 2009, where I wanted the lot and to build a home, but who knows what might happen and I had paid off student loans and car loans and other credit but this was much larger.

I felt the answer to my prayer lay in that on the cover of the Wall Street Journal was the image of Tibetan monks in a group, where I sponsor for school a Tibetan student and their family. Due to loss of my State job in July 2022, the supervisor claiming that

McCrea Appeal Court Brief

DA 23-0033

(3)

she was letting me go, due to my being harassed, which had to do mostly with this case and perhaps less with my job, I have not been able to sponsor this family any longer in the capacity needed for him to continue his undergraduate studies. These are the results and affects of everyone's greed and needs.

So I felt this was a loving nudge from my higher power that it would be safe for me to move'forward and sign the contract. That contractual arrangement for payment to the Larson's and the Larson's alone was signed on Friday, November 13, 2009.

I was working on November 3, 2009. The locuments you see before you from opposing 2 ounsel and the defendants are altered and backdated.

Furthermore, as I detailed and chronicalled everything the Court Clerks did and said to me in all my documentation submitted to the Court, it was insisted upon by the Court Clerks that I supply them with the original of my documents which were mangled at the edges, white out every where, and I only once submitted a document that was typed on a computer much later into the case as we approached trial, with a simple line long separating the headers for that document, which I will submit with all my documents outside of this brief via registered mail tomorrow or the next day according to my schedule permitting.

Anyone can create an ammoritization schedule on a computer. I was NOT BEHIND ON PAYMENTS, AND IFYOU DO NOT HAVE THE DOCIMENT THAT STATES I BECAME AST LEE GOING IN TO SEE EMILY WHEN I REALIZED MY DROPPED PAYMENTS WERE NOT BEING RECORDED, THEN WE ARE IN A REAL CREMINAL STATE IN OUR COURT SYSTEM. I ramped up my efforts to ensure not one payment was not recorded, where in deep winter I would drop my payments in the slot provided at Chicago Title. I had to begin calling and verifying that Emily recieved and processed payments due to hearing that they did not receive my dropped payments.

So well in advance, sights were on this property and to strip me of it. My November payment was held and then cashed later as a premetitated show of strength, likely with Levine and his agents paying attention, where <u>Levine claims</u> for Larson that a last stab at a payment was made by me in 2019. It was not and show me the check idiot!

My initial affidavit is not on file that I presented well into my case where Julge Kutzman is claiming I had no affidavit asserting my presentations were factually attested to.

I did indeed in my response<sup>to</sup>Chicago Title's and LoanCare's answer to my Complaint, which is stripped of the file, claim the defendants and their agents through their attorneys have and are the persons assaulting my life and commandeering my phone and accessing my communications and damaging my property. I asserted this throughout the entire case and as we closed in on the trial and I noted I had absolute evidence in this impinging and criminal reguard, Kutzman dissolved the trial via summary judgment and ther began redesigning the court case and pulling and stripping filed documents from the case. Page, 7 of Judge Kutzman's Order Granting Summary Judgment, I did not learn upon

McCrea Appeal Court Brief

(4)

further inquiry that LoanCare had taken over the processing of payments. In fact, LoanCare had been holding out to the IRS eight months prior that they were commandeering my property I paid taxes on for over nine years and paid faithfully on that they were taking over my property and they had exhorbient interest listed at the time, and that document has not been found by me.

Due to needing to get this to the Court, I would not rely on anymore of what Judge Kutzman elaborates on regarding the hearing. His offices and the Court and the Taylor person claimed to handle his transcripts have not responded or returned my phonecalls, where I made a filing late winter in regard to getting that transcript.

I must go to work now and I will send supporting documentation via registered mail within the next day or so.

What has transpired is purely criminal and Fraud on the Court and the Ninth Circuit Court has dealt with this sucinctly, although I have no time to elaborate on the case law.

Do you not think it grieves the persons who have longest roots in this state we hold so i ear that our Courts are as corrupt beyond belief and the neel to spar

with a pro se litigant in such fashion is unsconscionable. An closing, had you not had my job climinated, abound not have found the deed. I found the deed on 7. 25,20

Dated this 2nd of August 2023

Sharon McCrea, pro se, Appellant

I, Appellant/Plaintiff, Sharon McCrea, have sent a true and accurate copy of Appellant's Brief and supporting documents to both Bill Levine, of Marra, Evenson, & Levine, P.O. Box 1525, Great Falls, MT 59803 and Chris Sweeney of Moultan Bellingham, P.O. Box 2559, Billings, MT 59103 2559.

023

Dated this 2nd of August, 2023

: i

Sharm &

Sharon McCrea, pro se, Appellant & Plaintiff