IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 23-0033

SHARON McCREA,

Appellant and Plaintiff,

v.

CONNIE SUE LARSON, ESTATE OF
MARTINNE E. CHEW, CHICAGO
TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY,
LOANCARE ACCOUNT SERVICING,
and any other Parties, i.e. John Doe,

Appellees and Defendants,

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County
Judge John A. Kutzman

APPELLEE CONNIE SUE LARSON'S ANSWER BRIEF

Appearances:

Sharon McCrea
P.O. Box 405
Black Eagle, MT 59414
Appellant, pro se

William J. Levine
Marra, Evenson & Levine, P.C.
2 Railroad Square, Suite C
P.O. Box 1525
Great Falls, MT 59403-1525
Phone: (406) 268-1000
Email: wlevine@marralawfirm.com

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

V. Summary of the Arguments

1. The District Court properly granted Larson’s motion for summary judgment because the undisputed facts showed that the trustee’s sale was proper under the Small Tract Financing Act of Montana. McCrea defaulted on her obligations by refusing to make any further payments under the promissory note that was secured by the trust indentured she had granted to Larson. Larson gave a notice of trustee’s sale in compliance with the Act by mailing, posting, and

publishing. McCrea did not pay the delinquent payments or pay off the debt within the required time, and so the trustee's sale was completed, and the property was sold to Larson.

2. McCrea has not raised any issue of law or question of fact that might affect the outcome of this appeal. McCrea alleges some sort of conspiracy against her but does not address the key issues that entitled to Larson to summary judgment: McCrea's default, Larson's compliance with the notice requirements for a trustee's sale under the Small Tract Financing Act of Montana, McCrea's failure to reinstate or pay off her obligations, and the completion of the trustee's sale.

VI. Argument

1. The District Court properly granted Larson's motion for summary judgment because the trustee's sale was proper under the Small Tract Financing Act of Montana.

When McCrea purchased Lot 9, she did not have the money to pay for it, and so she did what most buyers do: she borrowed and granted a mortgage to secure her repayment of the loan. As with any other mortgage, it would be released if she paid off the underlying loan, but she would lose the property if she did not repay the loan. McCrea did not make her payments—indeed, refused to do so—despite Larson's attempts to accommodate her. Larson therefore initiated and completed a trustee's sale of Lot 9, and Larson is now the owner of Lot 9.

The type of mortgage that McCrea granted was a trust indenture, under the Small Tract Financing Act of Montana, Title 71, Chapter 1, Part 3, Montana Code Annotated. The purpose of the Small Tract Financing Act was to make financing for the purchase of real property of less than 40 acres more readily available. § 71-1-302, MCA. Whereas most traditional mortgages were foreclosed through judicial proceedings, property that is subject to a trust indenture under the Small Tract Financing Act can be foreclosed through advertisement and sale, so long as the procedures of the Act are followed. § 71-1-313, MCA. In exchange for making it easier for lenders to foreclose, borrowers benefit because a lender has no right to a deficiency judgment, i.e. to collect damages for any difference between the sale price at the trustee's sale and the remaining amount due on the underlying loan. § 71-1-317, MCA, *see also e.g. First State Bank of Forsyth v. Chunkapura*, 226 Mont. 54, 57, 734 P.2d 1203, 1205 (1987).

A trust indenture is “an indenture executed in conformity with this part [i.e. the Small Tract Financing Act of Montana] and conveying real property to a trustee in trust to secure the performance of an obligation of the grantor or other person named in the indenture to a beneficiary.” § 71-1-303(6), MCA. To enforce the security created by the trust indenture, “a power of sale is conferred upon the trustee to be exercised after a breach of the obligation for which the transfer is

security.” § 71-1-304(2), MCA. If the grantor of the trust indenture performs the underlying obligation, such as by paying off the underlying loan, then the trustee is obligated to reconvey the property to the grantor. § 71-1-307, MCA. If the grantor defaults, then the trustee can sell the real property at a trustee’s sale, with the sale proceeds then being used to pay off the costs of the sale and the underlying obligation, and any balance going to the grantor. § 71-1-316(1), MCA. The beneficiary has the right to appoint a successor trustee. § 71-1-306(2), MCA. This allows the beneficiary to install a trustee who will proceed with a trustee’s sale if the grantor defaults, since the initial trustee is usually the title company that completed the closing and will generally not initiate and complete a trustee’s sale.

To protect the grantor, the Small Tract Financing Act provides procedural safeguards and preconditions to a trustee’s sale. First, and perhaps most importantly, the grantor must be in default. § 71-1-313(2), MCA. As long as the grantor stays current on her obligations, a trustee’s sale is not allowed. Second, a notice of trustee’s sale must be prepared, and notice of the sale must be given, in the manner required by the Small Tract Financing Act. The notice of trustee’s sale must be recorded with the county clerk and recorder and must contain the following information:

- (a) the names of the grantor, trustee, and beneficiary in the trust indenture and the name of any successor trustee;
- (b) a description of the property covered by the trust indenture;
- (c) the book and page of the mortgage records where the trust indenture is recorded;
- (d) the default for which the foreclosure is made;
- (e) the sum owing on the obligation secured by the trust indenture;
- (f) the trustee's or beneficiary's election to sell the property to satisfy the obligation;
- (g) the date of sale, which shall not be less than 120 days subsequent to the date on which the notice of sale is filed for record, and the time of sale, which shall be between the hours of 9 a.m. and 4 p.m., mountain standard time;
- (h) the place of sale which shall be at the courthouse of the county or one of the counties where the property is situated or at the location of the property or at the trustee's usual place of business if within the county or one of the counties where the property is situated.

§ 71-1-313(3), MCA. The trustee must also give notice of the trustee's sale: (a) by mailing copies of the notice of trustee's sale by certified mail to those specified by statute to receive the notice at least 120 days before the sale, § 71-1-315(1)(a), MCA; (b) by posting the notice of trustee's sale on the property itself at least 20 days before the sale, § 71-1-315(1)(b), MCA; and (c) by publishing the notice of trustee's sale in the newspaper once a week for three weeks, with the final publication occurring at least 20 days before the sale, § 71-1-315(1)(c). Affidavits showing the trustee's compliance with the mailing, posting, and publication requirements must be recorded prior to the trustee's sale. § 71-1-315(2), MCA.

The third protection that the grantor has is the right to reinstatement, meaning that

a trustee's sale must be discontinued if the grantor remedies the default prior to the sale. § 71-1-312, MCA. Thus, a property owner can prevent a trustee's sale from being completed if she brings her payments current in the 120 or more days between when the notice of trustee's sale is first given and when it occurs. Moreover, even if a property owner does not have the resources to get reinstated, she can also sell the property prior to the trustee's sale to pay off the underlying obligation and realize whatever equity she might have in the property. If the trustee properly gives notice of the sale and the grantor does not reinstate prior to the time of the sale, then the trustee may complete the sale. § 71-1-315(3), MCA. Whoever purchases the property at the sale then becomes the owner of the property. §§ 71-1-315(4) and 71-1-318, MCA. Following the sale, the grantor no longer has any right, title, or interest in the property, but the grantor is also protected against a judgment on the remaining amounts that would otherwise be due on the underlying obligation. § 71-1-317, MCA.

All of the requirements for a trustee's sale of Lot 9 were met in this case. When she purchased Lot 9, McCrea granted a trust indenture, conveying Lot 9 to the original trustee, Chicago Title, to secure her payment of a promissory note payable to the estate of Martinne Chew. *Larson Affidavit*, ¶ 9 and Exs. G-H. The trust indenture was recorded in the Cascade County Clerk and Recorder's Office.

Id.; § 71-1-313(1), MCA. The promissory note was then distributed to Larson who became the successor beneficiary. *Larson Affidavit*, ¶ 11. McCrea struggled to make the payments due under the promissory note. Larson agreed to modify the payments to try to help McCrea meet her obligations—reducing the monthly payments from \$676.65 to \$400 to \$200, suspending the 6% interest for a year and then reducing it to 5%—but McCrea continued to struggle to make her payments. *Id.*, ¶ 12. Ultimately, McCrea stopped making any payments at all. *Id.*, ¶¶ 14-17 and Ex. N. She was 18 months behind when the notice of trustee’s sale was given, and she made no payments after that. *Id.*, ¶¶ 21-22 and Ex. T.

In order to enforce her rights under the promissory note and trust indenture, Larson decided to proceed with a trustee’s sale. In March 2020, Larson appointed attorney William J. Levine as the successor trustee, replacing Chicago Title.

Larson Affidavit, ¶ 18 and Ex. O; § 71-1-306(2), MCA. On April 27, 2020, the successor trustee prepared the notice of trustee’s sale that is the basis for this civil action, and it was recorded on April 29, 2020. *Larson Affidavit*, ¶ 22 and Ex. T.

The following table summarizes the notice’s compliance with the content requirements of § 71-1-313(3), MCA:

Requirements by subsection of § 71-1-313(3)	Compliance by the notice of trustee's sale
(a) the names of the grantor, trustee, and beneficiary in the trust indenture and the name of any successor trustee;	On page 1, the notice identifies the grantor as Sharon McCrea, the trustee as Chicago Title Insurance Company, the beneficiary as the Estate of Martinne C. Chew, the successor trustee as William J. Levine, and the successor beneficiary as Connie Sue Larson
(b) a description of the property covered by the trust indenture;	On page 1, the notice identifies the subject property as Lot 9, Block 219, Twelfth Addition to Great Falls Townsite, Cascade County, Montana, according to the official plat or map thereof on file in the office of the County Clerk and Recorder of said County.
(c) the book and page of the mortgage records where the trust indenture is recorded;	On page 1, the notice provides the recording reference for the trust indenture as the trust indenture dated November 9, 2009 and recorded on November 13, 2009, as Document Number R0205790
(d) the default for which the foreclosure is made;	On page 2, the notice identifies McCrea's default as her failure to pay \$3,600 in principal and interest that had come due and her failure to pay \$902.09 in property taxes

<p>(e) the sum owing on the obligation secured by the trust indenture;</p>	<p>On page 2, the notice states that the remaining principal balance is \$23,623.92, that the balance of then-accumulated interest was \$1,606.50, and that McCrea was also responsible for other fees and costs under the Small Tract Financing Act</p>
<p>(f) the trustee's or beneficiary's election to sell the property to satisfy the obligation;</p>	<p>On page 2, the notice states: "The beneficiary hereby elects to sell the property to satisfy the aforesaid obligations."</p>
<p>(g) the date of sale, which shall not be less than 120 days subsequent to the date on which the notice of sale is filed for record, and the time of sale, which shall be between the hours of 9 a.m. and 4 p.m., mountain standard time;</p>	<p>On page 2, the notice states that the sale will occur on Thursday, September 3, 2020 at 10:00 a.m. There are 129 days between the date of the notice, April 27, 2020, and the date of the sale, September 3, 2020.</p>
<p>(h) the place of sale which shall be at the courthouse of the county or one of the counties where the property is situated or at the location of the property or at the trustee's usual place of business if within the county or one of the counties where the property is situated.</p>	<p>On page 2, the notice identifies the place of the sale as the West Entrance of the Cascade County Courthouse, 415 2nd Avenue North, Great Falls, Montana.</p>

The successor trustee gave the notice by mailing, posting and publication as required by the Small Tract Financing Act. As required by § 71-1-315(1)(a), MCA, the successor trustee mailed the notice of trustee's sale on April 27, 2020 by certified mail to McCrea (the grantor), the occupant of Lot 9 (if any), Chicago Title (the original trustee), and those who had been identified as lienholders (the

Cascade County Treasurer, the Montana Department of Revenue, and CB1, Inc., d/b/a CBM Collections). *Larson Affidavit*, ¶ 23 and Ex. U. As required by § 71-1-315(1)(b), MCA, the successor trustee posted the notice of trustee's sale on Lot 9 on July 28, 2020. *Larson Affidavit*, ¶ 24 and Ex. V. The posting on July 28, 2020 was 37 days before the trustee's sale on September 3, 2020, more than the 20 day minimum requirement. § 71-1-315(1)(b), MCA. As required by § 71-1-315(1)(c), MCA, the successor trustee had the notice of trustee's sale published in the Cascade Courier newspaper on July 9, 16, and 23, 2020. *Larson Affidavit*, ¶ 25 and Ex. W. The third and final publication on July 23, 2020 was 42 days before the trustee's sale on September 3, 2020, more than the 20 day minimum requirement. § 71-1-315(1)(c), MCA. As required by § 71-1-315(2), MCA, affidavits of mailing, posting, and publication were all recorded in the Cascade County Clerk and Recorder's Office on August 31, 2020, before the trustee's sale on September 3, 2020. *Larson Affidavit*, ¶¶ 23-25 and Ex. U-W.

Having prepared a proper notice of trustee's sale and given that notice in the manner required by the Small Tract Financing Act, the successor trustee proceeded with and completed the trustee's sale. Although McCrea had the right to reinstatement, and also the ability to sell the property and pay off the promissory note, McCrea made no payments after the notice of trustee's sale was

given on April 27, 2020. *Larson Affidavit*, ¶¶ 21-22. Because Larson had not remedied her default, the successor trustee was authorized to proceed with the trustee's sale, and did so as scheduled on Thursday, September 3, 2020 at 10:00 a.m. at the West Entrance to the Cascade County Courthouse. *Id.*, ¶ 26 and Ex. X. Larson submitted the only bid for Lot 9, in the amount of \$28,560.17, which was the total amount of principal and interest McCrea then owed to Larson under the promissory note, plus the amount of Larson's costs and attorney fees at that time. *Id.* As Larson's bid was the highest bid, the successor trustee sold Lot 9 to her and executed and recorded a trustee's deed conveying Lot 9 to Larson. *Id.*, and § 71-1-318, MCA. This deed conveyed to Larson all of the "the trustee's title and all right, title, interest, and claim of" McCrea to Lot 9. § 71-1-318(3), MCA. McCrea therefore is no longer the owner of Lot 9, and Larson is now the sole owner of Lot 9. Presented with these undisputed facts, the district court correctly concluded that the trustee's sale had been properly noticed and completed under the Small Tract Financing Act of Montana and granted summary judgment to Larson.

2. McCrea has not raised any issue of law or question of fact that might affect the outcome of this appeal.

In her opening brief, McCrea does not clearly identify what issues she wishes to raise with this Court or what errors she believes the district court made.

Instead, she presents a narrative brief that does not cite the record, statutes, or case law. Larson will attempt to address McCrea's arguments in the order raised.

A. The District Court Record.

McCrea alleges the record presented to this Court is not the correct record from the district court. *Appellant's Brief*, dated August 2, 2023, pages 1-2. She does not identify what documents were supposedly removed from the district court file or what bearing those documents might have had on the outcome of Larson's motion for summary judgment. The key facts for the case concern McCrea's default, the notice of the trustee's sale, McCrea's failure to remedy her default after the notice, and the completion of the trustee's sale. McCrea did not address or dispute those facts in her opening brief. Moreover, Rule 8(6) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure provides an avenue to correct the record if a party believes the district court record is incorrect or incomplete. McCrea did not seek to correct the district court's record under Rule 8(6), M. R. App. P., and so the record transmitted to this Court is the record on which this Court is to decide this case.

B. Trust indenture vs. contract for deed.

McCrea claims that she "was surprised to have been asked at closing to sign a trust indenture instead of a contract for deed," and that this was something she wanted to bring up at the pretrial conference and, presumably, at trial. *Appellant's*

Brief, page 3. Whether she was expecting to sign a contract for deed or a trust indenture, the undisputed fact is that she signed a trust indenture. *Larson Affidavit*, ¶ 9 and Ex. G. Moreover, though the security mechanisms vary between a contract for deed and a trust indenture, the same basic principle applies to each: as long as the payments are made, the buyer gets to keep the property, but if the payments are not made, then the seller or lender can get the property back.

C. Newspaper headline.

McCrea states that she went through with her purchase because of an auspicious newspaper headline. *Appellant's Brief*, pages 3-4. Whatever her reasons for signing the documents, what matters is that she signed them.

D. Supposed dropped payments.

McCrea states that she was “not behind on payments” and that some of her payments were supposedly not being recorded. *Appellant's Brief*, page 4. She does not identify what specific payments she supposedly made that were not reflected in the payment history that Larson provided to the district court. *See Larson Affidavit*, ¶ 16 and Ex. N. McCrea’s statement is the exact kind of conclusory statement that is insufficient to prevent summary judgment because it lacks the details that would be needed to analyze it. She also made this same conclusory statement to the district court. As McCrea’s description of these

supposed payments to the district court makes clear, she was talking about payments made prior to “September/October of 2018.” *Response to Brief in Support of Connie Sue Larson and Chicago Title’s Motion for Summary Judgment*, filed March 8, 2021, pages 1-2. The defaults which prompted the trustee’s sale was her decision to stop making payments after October 8, 2018, and her failure to pay the property taxes. *Larson Affidavit*, ¶¶ 16, 21, and 22 and Exs. N and T. Her statement now on appeal that she was not behind must be read in light of her statement to the district court: “I was not delinquent in the fall of 2018. I chose not to pay LoanCare Account Servicing, as you can see by a previous document that they claim they had the loan clear back at the beginning of 2018.” *Response to Brief in Support of Connie Sue Larson and Chicago Title’s Motion for Summary Judgment*, filed March 8, 2021, page 2. McCrea’s stubborn choice not to send payments to LoanCare after they took over the payment processing for her loan is precisely what resulted in her default, Larson’s decision to proceed with a trustee’s sale, and the trustee’s sale being completed. Even the documents McCrea submits with her own appeal brief confirm that she still owed on the promissory note when she abruptly ceased making payments. The 2018 IRS Form 1098 that she wants this Court to consider shows the unpaid balance of her loan was \$23,623.92, which is the exact same amount stated by Larson in the notice of